جــامـعــة الملك سعود King Saud University King Saud University

The Saudi Dental Journal

www.ksu.edu.sa www.sciencedirect.com



REVIEW ARTICLE

A systematic review assessing the dental pulp stone prevalence in the Saudi Arabian population

Sandeepa Nuchilakath Chalikkandy^a, Shilpa Bhandi^b, Hamed Ahmed Ali Al Shawkani^c, Mohammed Hussain Dafer Al Wadei^d, M. Mohammed Abdul Kader^e, Atlal Hassan Hussain Jaafari^f, Thilla Sekar Vinothkumar^g, Saranya Varadarajan^h, Luca Testarelliⁱ, Shankargouda Patil^{b,*}

^a Department of Diagnostic Sciences-Oral Biology, College of Dentistry, King Khalid University Abha, 122001, Saudi Arabia

^b College of Dental Medicine, Roseman University of Health Sciences, South Jordan, UT 84095, USA

^c Department of Restorative Dental Science, Division of Endodontics, College of Dentistry, Jazan University, Jazan 45142, Saudi Arabia

^d Department Restorative Dental Science, College of Dentistry, King Khalid University, Abha 122001, Saudi Arabia

^e Department of Restorative Dental Science, College of Dentistry, King Khalid University, Abha, Saudi Arabia

^fCollege of Dentistry, Jazan University, Jazan 45142, Saudi Arabia

^g Department of Restorative Dental Science, Division of Operative Dentistry, College of Dentistry, Jazan University, Jazan 45142, Saudi Arabia

^h Distinguished Adjunct Faculty, Department of Oral Pathology and Microbiology, Saveetha Dental College and Hospitals, Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences, Saveetha University, Chennai 600 077, India

ⁱ Department of Oral and Maxillo-Facial Sciences, University di Roma La Sapienza, Roma 00185, Italy

Received 1 April 2023; revised 10 July 2023; accepted 18 July 2023

KEYWORDS Frequency; Occurrence; Prevalence; Pulp stone; Pulp calcifications	Abstract This Systematic Review (SR) was to report on the prevalence of pulp stones in the Saudi Arabian (KSA) population. The electronic databases were searched for scientific research articles during May 2021. The data search was performed in electronic search engines like PubMed, Scopus, Web of science, and Saudi Digital Library, and 6 original research articles which fulfilled the eligibility criteria were assessed for qualitative data. The prevalence of pulp stones among the KSA population ranged from 4.6% to 50.93% among the study participants and it ranged between 10.2%–13.34% in the teeth assessed. The pulp stones were more frequently reported in decayed teeth, periodontal diseases, attrition, teeth with dental restorations, and higher in the molar teeth in comparison with the premolar teeth. The data on the prevalence of pulp stones among the Saudi population will be helpful for clinicians in planning endodontic procedures.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: sbhandi@roseman.edu (S. Bhandi), msaheb@kku.edu.sa (M. Mohammed Abdul Kader), luca.testarelli@uniroma1.it (L. Testarelli), spatil@roseman.edu (S. Patil).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sdentj.2023.07.012

1013-9052 © 2023 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Please cite this article in press as: Chalikkandy, S.N. et al., A systematic review assessing the dental pulp stone prevalence in the Saudi Arabian population. The Saudi Dental Journal (2023), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sdentj.2023.07.012

Contents

1.	Introduction	00
2.	Materials and methods	00
	2.1. Protocol and Registration	00
	2.2. Search Strategy.	00
	2.3. Selection criteria	00
	2.3.1. Inclusion criteria	00
	2.3.2. Exclusion Criteria.	00
	2.3.3. Focus question	00
	2.3.4. Study selection	00
	2.4. Risk of bias assessment of the selected studies:c	00
3.	Results	00
	3.1. Search results	00
	3.2. Data extraction and qualitative synthesis	00
4.	Discussion	00
5.	Conclusions	00
	Ethical statement	00
	Funding	00
	CRediT authorship contribution statement.	00
	Declaration of Competing Interest	00
	References.	00

1. Introduction

Pulp Stones (PS) found within the pulpal tissues of a tooth, which are either attached or can be found embedded within the dentine of the tooth (Kaswan et al., 2014; Ozkalayci et al., 2011). Pulp stones is usually found in the coronal as well as the radicular pulp and may vary from microscopic to macroscopic in their dimensions. Based on their histological features they have been classified as true and false pulpal stones. The true pulp stones is made up of irregular dentine (Patil and Sinha, 2013). Pulp stones usually appears on a radiograph with a round or oval shape (Ertas et al., 2017). They may appear as single large opacity or may even appear as small opacities with the pulp chamber (Kansu et al., 2009). The number of pulp stones within the pulp chamber of a single tooth may vary from one to twelve or even more in number (Bevelander and Johnson, 1956; Ranjitkar et al., 2002). The etiology behind the formation of the pulp stones is still unclear. There have been several factors that have been correlated with their occurrence. Several predisposing factors like aging, the presence of long-standing dental caries, wasting diseases like attrition and abrasion, reduced blood supply to the pulpal tissues, dental operative procedures, and orthodontic therapy are considered as the alterations that could lead to the formation of pulp stones that are nothing but calcifications around blood thrombi, collagen fibers or degenerating cells (Berès et al., 2016; Goga et al., 2008; Jain et al., 2014; Patil and Sinha, 2013). The chronic pathological irritation caused by the microbial process within the long-standing dental caries leads to vascular injury within the pulpal tissues which eventually results in the deposition of calcium salts and resulting in the formation of pulp stones (Baghdady et al., 1988). Studies that have assessed the prevalence of pulp stones in different populations have reported that the frequency of occurrence of pulp stones may increase with the growing age and it is different between sex (al-Hadi Hamasha and Darwazeh, 1998; Hill, 1934; Sayegh and Reed, 1968; Sundell et al., 1968). Other prevalence studies have also reported that females experience a higher occurrence of pulp stones when compared with the male population (Sisman et al., 2012; Tamse et al., 1982). The frequency of the occurrence of pulp stones is very important for clinicians especially the one performing the endodontic treatment, the pulp stones which are located within the pulp chamber or the root canals often narrow and even lead to the obstruction of access to the apical end of the root canal. This could eventually result in increased difficulty in performing the endodontic treatment and in a greater amount of stress on the NiTi rotary instrument used (Gambarini et al., 2020; Zeng et al., 2011). Hence this Systematic Review was taken up to report on the prevalence of pulp stones among the KSA populations by adhering to PRISMA guidelines.(See Tables 1 and 2)

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Protocol and Registration

The international prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO) database was searched for registered protocols on reporting the prevalence of pulp stones in the Saudi Arabian Population and no registered protocol was found. Hence the present Systematic Review (SR) was taken up after reviewing the guidelines for Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (Moher et al., 2009). This protocol was registered in the PROSPERO with Reg. No 243908.

Please cite this article in press as: Chalikkandy, S.N. et al., A systematic review assessing the dental pulp stone prevalence in the Saudi Arabian population. The Saudi Dental Journal (2023), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sdentj.2023.07.012

Serial Number	Authors	Year of Publication	Study Region	Study Objective	Examination technique/ Radiographic technique	Gender	Number of patients examined and prevalence	Number of teeth examined and prevalence	Risk of Bias
1	S Al-Nazhan et al 2011 Riyadh (Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al- Shamrani, 2011)			To determine the prevalence of pulp stones in a group of Saudi Arabian population using radiographs.	Bitewing radiograph	M = 319 $F = 281$	N = 600 Prevalence = 46.8%	N = 8456 Prevalence = 10.2%	Moderate
2	S R. Patil et al (Patil et al., 2018a)	2018	Aljouf	To determine the prevalence of pulp stones using cone beam computed tomography among Saudi Arabian population	CBCT Images	M = 236 $F = 192$	N = 428 Prevalence = 50.93%	N = 2982 Prevalence = 13.34%	Moderate
3	S R. Patil et al (Patil et al., 2018b)	2018	Aljouf	To assess the prevalence of pulp stones using Cone Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT) in a Saudi Arabian adolescent population.	CBCT Images	M = 148 $F = 89$	N = 237 Prevalence = 50.02%	N = 1018 Prevalence = 10.06%	Moderate
4	Alsweed A et al (Alsweed et al., 2019)	2019	Qassim	To determine the prevalence of carotid artery calcifications (CACs) and pulp stones detected on panoramic radiographs (PRs) among Saudi Arabian subpopulation	Panoramic radiographs	M = 1212 $F = 801$	N = 2013 Prevalence = 4.6%	Not mentioned in the article	Moderate
5	Sadoon et al (Sadoon et al., 2019)	2019	Hail	To study the prevalence of pulp stones among Saudi subpopulation using periapical radiographs	Intra oral periapical radiograph	M = 153 $F = 145$	N = 298 Prevalence = 28%	N = 1306 Prevalence = 12%	Moderate
6.	Srivastava et al	2020	Sakaka	To evaluatte the the prevalence pulp stones in the Saudi Arabian population with cardiovascular diseases, diabetes mellitus and healthy	CBCT images	M = 231 $F = 238$	N = 229 Prevalance = 22.27%	N = 4807 Prevalance = 9.75%	Moderate

Table 1	Shows the details of the characteristics of cross-sectional studies that were included in this systematic review.

Table 2 Risk of Bias Assessment of the selected studies.											
First authors name/Year of publication	S. No	1. Was the sample frame appropriate to address the target population?	2. Were study participants sampled in an appropriate way?	3. Was the sample size adequate?	4. Were the study subjects and the setting described in detail?	5. Was the data analysis conducted with sufficient coverage of the identified sample?	6. Were valid methods used for the identification of the condition?	7. Was the condition measured in a standard, reliable way for all participants?	8. Was there appropriate statistical analysis?	9. Was the response rate adequate, and if not, was the low response rate managed appropriately	Overall risk of bias
Al-Nazhan/ 2011(Saad Al- Nazhan and Saleh Al- Shamrani, 2011)	1	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Moderate
Patil et al / 2018 (Patil et al., 2018a)	2	No	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Moderate
Patil et al/ 2018 (Patil et al., n.d.)	3	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Moderate
Alsweed A et al /2019 (Alsweed et al., 2019)	4	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Moderate
Sadoon et al / 2019 (Sadoon et al., 2019)	5	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Moderate
Srivastava et al / 2020 (Srivastava et al., 2020)	6	No	Unclear	Unclear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Moderate

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Pulp stones prevalence in Saudi population



Fig. 1 Pulp stone article.

2.2. Search Strategy

Two independent researchers performed the search of articles in the electronic databases. The electronic databases were searched for scientific research articles during May 2021. Keywords combinations such as "prevalence of pulp stones and Saudi Arabia" and "prevalence of pulp calcifications" with Boolean operators such as AND electronically searched the available databases such as PubMed, Web of Science, Scopus, and Saudi Digital Library for identification of potential articles. The English language was used as a filter to select the articles for the present SR. In addition, the authors manually searched the reference lists of the included studies to ensure comprehensive literature search. The title and abstract of each article were screened for the initial selection to identify relevant articles. The preliminary search yielded 221 articles that were related to our research topic. Out of these 157 articles had to be eliminated to avoid the duplication of data and the research topic was not related to the prevalence of pulp stones. After this elimination process, a total of 64 articles were left for evaluation in the next stage. In the next stage, these articles were screened by applying the selection criteria.

2.3. Selection criteria

2.3.1. Inclusion criteria

In this systematic review cross-sectional observational studies that estimated the prevalence of **pulp stones** among the KSA population were included. There was no age limit for the study population in the inclusion criteria.

2.3.2. Exclusion Criteria

Conference papers, research papers with only abstracts, case reports, and review articles were excluded.

2.3.3. Focus question

This systematic review aimed to address the potential focus question based on the following criteria: Population (P): Saudi Arabian Population; Study design (S): Observational studies, cross-sectional studies, cohort studies, case-control studies; Outcome (O): Prevalence of pulp stones (Järbrink et al., 2016). Focus question: What is the prevalence of **pulp stones** in the Saudi Arabian (KSA) population?

2.3.4. Study selection

Finally, the 6 articles which met the selection criteria were considered in this SR for quality synthesis (Fig. 1).

2.4. Risk of bias assessment of the selected studies: c

The Joanna Briggs Institute (JBI) Critical Appraisal Checklist for studies reporting prevalence data (last amended in 2017) was used to assess the risk of bias of all the 5 included articles. The parameters assessed included appropriateness of sample frame, sample method, adequacy of sample size, description of study setting and participants, the conduct of data analysis with adequate coverage of the identified sample, methodology used for identification of the condition, reliability of the measurement of condition for all participants, statistical analysis, and adjustment of non-response rate (Joanna Briggs Institute., n.d.; Ma et al., 2020).

3. Results

3.1. Search results

In the present SR totally 5 original research articles which had met the eligibility criteria were assessed for qualitative data. All 5 selected studies were cross-sectional studies and were conducted in different parts of Saudi Arabia over the last 10 years. The sample size in the included studies ranged between 237 and 2013 study subjects and the total number of teeth assessed for the presence of **pulp stones** ranged between 1018 and 8456 teeth. The prevalence of **pulp stones** among the KSA population ranged from 4.6% to 50.93% and in the teeth assessed it ranged between 10.2%-13.34%.

3.2. Data extraction and qualitative synthesis

These studies were conducted in different regions of KSA. One study was conducted in Riyadh, two studies in Aljouf and two other studies respectively in Qassim and Hail, and one in Sakaka (Alsweed et al., 2019; Patil et al., 2018b, 2018a; Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011; Sadoon et al., 2019; Srivastava et al., 2020). There was mention of sample size estimation in only one of the selected studies (Patil et al., 2018a). The sample size of the study population in the included studies varied from 237 to 2013 study subjects. The radiographic evaluation techniques used for assessing the presence of pulp stones in the included studies in this systematic review were done using Bitewing radiographs; Cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) images, Orthopantomogram (OPG), and Intraoral Periapical Radiograph (IOPAR).

All the included studies had a moderate risk of bias (Alsweed et al., 2019; Patil et al., 2018a, 2018b; Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011; Sadoon et al., 2019; Srivastava et al., 2020).

A study conducted by Al-Nazhan et al. assessed the prevalence of pulp stones in a group of KSA population using bitewing radiographs (Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011). The authors reported examining the radiographs of 600 study subjects which comprised of 8456 teeth. The prevalence of pulp stones among the 600 study participants was 46.8% and the prevalence in the 8456 included teeth was 10.2%. The authors also reported that the prevalence of pulp stones was more in the molars in comparison with premolars, which was statistically significant. The teeth with attrition and the aged patients had a higher frequency of pulp stones and were statistically significant. Patil et al. assessed the prevalence of pulp stones among the KSA population using CBCT images (Patil et al., 2018a). A total of 428 study subjects comprising of 2982 teeth were assessed for the presence of pulp stones. The prevalence of pulp stones was 50.93% among the study subjects and 13.34% among the included teeth. The prevalence of pulp stones was higher among the male subjects in comparison with the female subjects and was statistically significant. The presence of pulp stones was higher in the teeth affected with dental caries, teeth with attrition and the teeth affected with periodontal diseases in comparison with intact teeth and the difference were statistically significant. Patil et al. in another study assessed the prevalence of pulp stones among the KSA adolescent population using CBCT images (Patil et al., 2018b). A total of 237 study subjects comprising of

1018 teeth were assessed for the presence of pulp stones. The prevalence of pulp stones was 50.02% among the study subjects and 10.06% among the included teeth. There was no significant difference in the frequency of pulp stones when compared with gender, dental arches, and sides of the jaws. The presence of pulp stones was higher in the teeth affected with dental caries and teeth with dental restorations. Alsweed et al. in their study assessed the prevalence of pulp stones and correlated it with the prevalence of carotid artery calcifications (Alsweed et al., 2019). The authors reported assessing panoramic radiographs of 2013 study subjects. The prevalence of P pulp stones was 4.6%. The prevalence of pulp stones was higher among the younger population in comparison with older study subjects and the difference was statistically significant. There was no significant difference in comparison with gender. Abdulmjeed et al. assessed the prevalence of pulp stones among the Saudi Arabia subpopulations using intraoral periapical radiographs (Sadoon et al., 2019). A total of 298 study subjects which comprised 1306 teeth were screened for the presence of pulp stones. The prevalence of pulp stones was 28% among the study subjects and 12% in the included teeth. The authors also reported that the presence of pulp stones was higher in the teeth affected with dental caries and teeth with restorations. The prevalence was also noted to be higher among the aged subjects in comparison with the young subjects. Srivastava et al. (Srivastava et al., 2020). reported the prevalence of pulp stones among Saudi Arabian subpopulations using cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT). In their study among 229 individuals, 22.27% had pulp stones and among 4807 teeth 9.75% had pulp stones. They reported that both pulp stones was more prevalent in patients with cardiovascular disease followed by diabetics and least in the control group. hey also reported that patients with cardiovascular disease had 2.94 times more risk and patients with diabetes had.8 times more risk of pulp stones. Among the teeth first molar had a 2.20 times higher risk for pulp stones in comparison with other teeth.

4. Discussion

The current data on the prevalence of pulp stones has a wide range from 8% to 90% which has been attributed to the difference in the method used for assessment of the presence of pulp stones such as intra oral periapical radiograph, bite wing radiograph and histology. The sensitivity and specificity of each method is different hence there may be variations in identification of the pathology (Moss-Salentijn and Hendricks-Klyvert, 1988). Conventional radiographic techniques which mainly include intraoral periapical radiographs, bitewing radiographs, and panoramic radiography are the most used techniques for assessing the presence of pulp stones due to the ease of operation and cost effectiveness. With the advancement in radiographic techniques like the CBCT diagnostic tools, which provide high resolution and three-dimensional imaging have the advantage of providing more accurate anatomic details in comparison with the conventional radiographic techniques. Studies that have reported on the prevalence of pulp stones also underlined that histological exams provide an enhanced report on pulp stones and can demonstrate higher numbers, but its invasive technique is one of its major limitations (Kannan et al., 2015; Rodrigues

et al., 2014). In this SR articles have reported on the prevalence of pulp stone used intraoral periapical radiographs, bitewing radiographs, panoramic radiographs, and CBCT imaging techniques (Alsweed et al., 2019; Patil et al., 2018a, 2018b; Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011; Sadoon et al., 2019). One of the major limitations of using radiographic techniques for accessing the prevalence of pulp stones is that the diameter of these calcified bodies has to be more than 200um to be detected through radiographic technique as projectional radiographic method requires particular size of calcification to depict radio opacity and the rays can pass through calcifications that are less than 200 um (Moss-Salentijn and Klyvert, 1983). In comparison, a microscopic method is considered more accurate in reporting the actual prevalence of pulp stones (Goga et al., 2008; Kansu et al., 2009) which could be attributed to the fact that histological sections could detect smaller size of pulp stones that are not visible radiographically. Studies conducted by Patil et al. (Patil et al., 2018b) and Alsweed et al. and Srivastava et al (Srivastava et al., 2020) mentioned that there was no difference in the prevalence of pulp stones concerning gender (Alsweed et al., 2019). A study conducted by Patil et al. reported that the prevalence was higher among the male participants in comparison with the female participants, which is contrary to the studies reported in the literature that says there is a female prevalence as previously described (Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011). Several studies have reported that the frequency of pulp stones is higher among female participants in comparison with the male participants (Baghdady et al., 1988; Satheeshkumar et al., 2013; Sener et al., 2009; Sisman et al., 2012; Turkal et al., 2013). The higher prevalence of pulp stones among the female population could be due to the larger frequency of bruxism among females that has been reported in literature and this chronic irritation could initiate calcifications (Sener et al., 2009). In the present SR, studies conducted by S Al-Nazhan et al., S Abdulmjeed et al., and Srivastava et al. (Srivastava et al., 2020) reported that the prevalence of pulp stones was higher among the aged participants in comparison with the younger participants (Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011; Sadoon et al., 2019). These findings were under the findings reported from other studies (Hekmatian and Shokrgozar, 2015; Javadzadeh et al., 2014; Kazemizadeh, 2011). These findings could be explained by the age-related changes that occur within the tooth, where there are atherosclerotic changes and hypoperfusion of pulp, followed by secondary dentin deposition with a subsequent increase in the amount of connective tissue (Alsweed et al., 2019). A study conducted by Alsweed et al. reported that the prevalence of pulp stones was higher among the younger participants in comparison with the older participants (Patil et al., 2018b). These findings were contrary to the studies reported in the literature that could be attributed to the sample size and sample population selected in the study.

In the present SR, a study conducted by Al-Nazhan et al. and

Srivastava et al. (Srivastava et al., 2020) reported that the

prevalence of pulp stones was higher in the molar teeth in com-

parison with the premolar teeth, these findings were following

the findings reported in the literature (Baghdady et al., 1988;

Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011; Sisman et al.,

2012). These variations among the tooth could be due to the

early eruption of the first molar in comparison with other

teeth, which could be the reason for longer exposure with

the oral cavity that could be exposed to chronic irritation

due to mastication speech etc. (Alsweed et al., 2019). In the present systematic review, the studies conducted by Al-Nazhan et al. and Patil et al. reported that the prevalence of pulp stones was higher with the teeth affected by wasting diseases like attrition, dental caries, and periodontal diseases (Patil et al., 2018a; Saad Al-Nazhan and Saleh Al-Shamrani, 2011). This could be attributed to the fact that wasting diseases of the teeth are associated with chronic inflammation that could initiate calcification. Studies conducted by Patil et al. (Patil et al., 2018b) and Alsweed et al. (Alsweed et al., 2019) reported that the prevalence of pulp stones was higher with the teeth affected with dental caries and the teeth that were having dental restorations when compared with the intact teeth. These findings were the following studies reported in the literature and could be attributed to the chronic irritation and stimulation from dental caries process (Kannan et al., 2015; Ranjitkar et al., 2002; Sener et al., 2009). The association of periodontal diseases and dental caries is related to inflammatory changes and then circulatory interference (Patil et al., 2018b). Considering systemic diseases, Srivastava et al reported that patients with cardiovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus had a higher risk of developing pulp stones in comparison with the control group. It has been reported that the presence of pulp stones has an increased risk for cardiovascular disease (Ezoddini-Ardakani et al., 2015; Srivastava et al., 2020). This could be correlated with the calcification of atherosclerotic plaques as a predisposing factor for cardiovascular disease. The increased prevalence of pulp stones in diabetic individuals could be attributed to obliterative endarteritis as a result of aging. Pulp is more prone to calcification as there is no collateral vascularization for the pulp tissue (Nayak et al., 2010). The clinical importance of detecting pulp stones is to avoid the difficulties that could be encountered during endodontic procedures pulp stones could interrupt the access to the canal orifices during the endodontic procedures and could prevent the easy passage of the endodontic instruments into the root canals. The knowledge of these situations before starting the endodontic treatment can avoid the development of high stress and high level of operative torque which can probably lead to intracanal instrument separation (Seracchiani et al., 2021). The presence of pulp stones does not prevent the use of rotary instruments, but their management is more complex: it is recommended to use lubricants and frequent canal washing with different irrigants to avoid instrument separation or other iatrogenic errors (Mazzoni et al., 2020). The limitations of this paper are that only cross-sectional observational reporting on the prevalence of pulp stones were included as there were no data available on the prospective assessing the prevalence of pulp stones which would be more reliable. Further prospective studies need to be conducted in the future to know the incidence of pulp stones, which could provide more information on the factors associated with the occurrence of pulp stones. In all the included studies the sample frame was not representative of the population and was confined to the patients visiting a single hospital or a few selected hospitals. Also, the sample size calculation was adequate only in one study. The prevalence of pulp stones in the included studies was low, hence metaanalysis comparing the gender and geographic variations would have minimal clinical significance. Hence the present SR was confined only to systematic review and *meta*-analysis was not performed. Future studies with adequate sample

Please cite this article in press as: Chalikkandy, S.N. et al., A systematic review assessing the dental pulp stone prevalence in the Saudi Arabian population. The Saudi Dental Journal (2023), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sdentj.2023.07.012

frames, sampling methods, and sample size have to be carried out to determine the prevalence of pulp stones among the Saudi Arabian population.

5. Conclusions

The prevalence of pulp stones among the included studies in this SR ranged from 4.6% to 50.93% among the study participants and it ranged between 10.2% - 13.34% in the teeth assessed. The pulp stones were more frequently reported in teeth affected with dental caries, periodontal diseases attrition, and teeth with dental restorations. The prevalence of pulp stones was found to be higher in the molar teeth in comparison with the premolar teeth. Aging is associated with an increase in the prevalence of pulp stones. These findings will be helpful for clinicians in planning endodontic procedure as pulp stones in pulp chamber or the root canals often narrow and even lead to the obstruction of access to the apical end of the root canal and give greater amount of stress on the NiTi rotary instrument used.

Ethical statement

Not applicable.

Funding

This research received no external funding.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Sandeepa Nuchlakath Chalikkandy: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Project administration, Writing - review & editing. Shilpa Bhandi: Formal analysis, Software, Supervision, Writing - review & editing. Hamed Ahmed Ali Al Shawkani: Formal analysis, Software, Visualization, Writing - review & editing. Mohammed Hussain Dafer Al Wadei: Data curation, Project administration, Validation, Writing - review & editing. M. Mohammed Abdul Kader: Investigation, Software, Writing - review & editing. Atlal Hassan Hussain Jaafari: Data curation, Methodology, Validation, Writing - original draft. Thilla Sekar Vinothkumar: Data curation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing - original draft. Saranya Varadarajan: Conceptualization, Investigation, Resources, Writing - original draft. Luca Testarelli: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing original draft. Shankargouda Patil: Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Writing - original draft.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

al-Hadi Hamasha, A., Darwazeh, A., 1998. Prevalence of pulp stones in Jordanian adults. Oral Surg. Oral Med Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol. Endod. 86, 730–732. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1079-2104 (98)90212-8.

- Al-Nazhan, S.a., Al-Shamrani, S., 2011. A Radiographic assessment of the prevalence of pulp stones in Saudi Adults. Saudi Endod. J. 1, 19–26.
- Alsweed, A., Farah, R., Ps, S., Farah, R., 2019. The Prevalence and correlation of carotid artery calcifications and dental pulp stones in a Saudi Arabian Population. Dis (Basel, Switzerland) 7, 50. https:// doi.org/10.3390/diseases7030050.
- Baghdady, V.S., Ghose, L.J., Nahoom, H.Y., 1988. Prevalence of pulp stones in a teenage Iraqi group. J. Endod. 14, 309–311. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0099-2399(88)80032-3.
- Berès, F., Isaac, J., Mouton, L., Rouzière, S., Berdal, A., Simon, S., Dessombz, A., 2016. Comparative physicochemical analysis of pulp stone and dentin. J. Endod. 42, 432–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. joen.2015.11.007.
- Bevelander, G., Johnson, P.L., 1956. Histogenesis and histochemistry of pulpal calcification. J. Dent. Res. 35, 714–722. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/00220345560350050901.
- Ertas, E.T., Veli, I., Akin, M., Ertas, H., Atici, M.Y., 2017. Dental pulp stone formation during orthodontic treatment: a retrospective clinical follow-up study. Niger. J. Clin. Pract. 20, 37–42. https://doi. org/10.4103/1119-3077.164357.
- Ezoddini-Ardakani, F., Nemayandeh, S.M., Sadrbafghi, S.M., Hajihashemi, S., Emami, M., Kahtouei, F.G., Hadiani, L., Ahmadieh, M.H., Moeini, M., Razavi, S.H., Besharati, S., 2015. Diagnostic value of dental pulp stones in the early diagnosis of ischemic heart diseases. Health (Irvine. Calif) 07, 336–345. https://doi.org/ 10.4236/health.2015.73038.
- Gambarini, G., Miccoli, G., D'Angelo, M., Seracchiani, M., Obino, F. V., Reda, R., Testarelli, L., 2020. The relevance of operative torque and torsional resistance of nickel-titanium rotary instruments: a preliminary clinical investigation. Saudi Endod. J. 10, 260–264. https://doi.org/10.4103/sej.sej_157_19.
- Goga, R., Chandler, N.P., Oginni, A.O., 2008. Pulp stones: a review. Int. Endod. J. 41, 457–468. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2591.2008.01374.x.
- Hekmatian, E., Shokrgozar, A., Maleki, V., 2015. Assessment of prevalence of pulp stones on digital panoramic radiographs of patients referring to Isfahan dental school in 2013. J. Isfahan Dent. Sch. 11, 163–169.
- Hill, T.J., 1934. Pathology of the Dental Pulp**Read at the Seventy-Fifth Annual Session of the American Dental Association in conjunction with the Chicago Centennial Dental Congress, Aug. 10, 1933. This work was aided by a grant from the Callahan Memorial Award Commission. J. Am. Dent. Assoc. 21, 820–844. https://doi.org/10.14219/jada.archive.1934.0132.
- Jain, P., Patni, P., Hiremath, H., Jain, N., 2014. Successful removal of a 16 mm long pulp stone using ultrasonic tips from maxillary left first molar and its endodontic management. J. Conservative Dentistry: JCD. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-0707.124170.
- Järbrink, K., Ni, G., Sönnergren, H., Schmidtchen, A., Pang, C., Bajpai, R., Car, J., 2016. Prevalence and incidence of chronic wounds and related complications: a protocol for a systematic review. Syst. Rev. 5, 152. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0329y.
- Javadzadeh, A., Mohtavipour, S.T., Dalili, Z., Nemati, S., Vosooghi, Y., PourHabibi, Z., 2014. Prevalence of Pulp stones in radiographs of patients, referred to Guilan school of dentistry in 2011. J. Mashhad Dent. Sch. 38, 99–106.
- Joanna Briggs Institute., n.d. Critical Appraisal tools for use in JBI Systematic Reviews Checklist for Prevalence Studies.2020. Available at https://jbi.global/sites/default/files/2020-08/Checklist_for_ Prevalence_Studies.pdf. [WWW Document].
- Kannan, S., Kannepady, S.K., Muthu, K., Jeevan, M.B., Thapasum, A., 2015. Radiographic assessment of the prevalence of pulp stones in Malaysians. J. Endod. 41, 333–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. joen.2014.10.015.
- Kansu, O., Ozbek, M., Avcu, N., Aslan, U., Kansu, H., Gençtoy, G., 2009. Can dental pulp calcification serve as a diagnostic marker for

Pulp stones prevalence in Saudi population

carotid artery calcification in patients with renal diseases? Dentomaxillofac. Radiol. 38, 542–545. https://doi.org/10.1259/dmfr/13231798.

- Kaswan, S., Patil, S., Maheshwari, S., Rahman, F., Khandelwal, S., 2014. The relationship between pulp calcifications and salivary gland calcifications. J. Clin. Exp. Dent. 6, e474–e478. https://doi. org/10.4317/jced.51518.
- Kazemizadeh, Z., 2011. A radiographic assessment of the prevalence of pulp stones in patients referred to Rafsanjan faculty of dentistry in 2008. qom Univ. Med. Sci. J. 2, 29–33.
- Ma, L.-L., Wang, Y.-Y., Yang, Z.-H., Huang, D., Weng, H., Zeng, X.-T., 2020. Methodological quality (risk of bias) assessment tools for primary and secondary medical studies: what are they and which is better? Mil. Med. Res. 7, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-020-00238-8.
- Mazzoni, A., Pacifici, A., Zanza, A., Del Giudice, A., Reda, R., Testarelli, L., Gambarini, G., Pacifici, L., 2020. Assessment of realtime operative torque during nickel-titanium instrumentation with different lubricants. Appl. Sci. 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/ APP10186201.
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D.G., 2009. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med. 6, e1000097. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.
- Moss-Salentijn, L., Hendricks-Klyvert, M., 1988. Calcified structures in human dental pulps. J. Endod. 14, 184–189. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0099-2399(88)80262-0.
- Moss-Salentijn, L., Klyvert, M.H., 1983. Epithelially induced denticles in the pulps of recently erupted, noncarious human premolars. J. Endod. 9, 554–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0099-2399(83)80060-0.
- Nayak, M., Kumar, J., Prasad, L.k., 2010. A radiographic correlation between systemic disorders and pulp stones. Indian J. Dent. Res. 21, 369. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-9290.70806.
- Ozkalayci, N., Zengin, A.Z., Elekdag Turk, S., Sumer, A.P., Bulucu, B., Kirtiloglu, T., 2011. Multiple pulp stones: a case report. Eur. J. Dent. 5, 210–214.
- Patil, S., Araki, K., Ghani, H.A., Al-Zoubi, I., Sghaireen, M.G., Gudipaneni, R.K., Alam, M.K., n.d. Prevalence of pulp stones in a Saudi Arabian adolescent population: a cone-beam computed tomography study. Pesqui. Bras. Odontopediatria Clin. Integr. 18, e3973. https://doi.org/10.4034/PBOCI.2018.181.45.
- Patil, S., Ghani, H., Almuhaiza, M., Al-Zoubi, I., Anil, K., Misra, N., Raghuram, P., 2018a. Prevalence of pulp stones in a Saudi Arabian subpopulation: a cone-beam computed tomography study. Saudi Endod. J. 8, 93–98. https://doi.org/10.4103/sej.sej_32_17.
- Patil, S., Ghani, H., Almuhaiza, M., Al-Zoubi, I., Anil, K., Misra, N., Raghuram, P., 2018b. Prevalence of pulp stones in a Saudi Arabian adolescent population: a cone-beam computed tomography study. Saudi Endod. J. 18, e3973.
- Patil, S., Sinha, N., 2013. Pulp stone, haemodialysis, end-stage renal disease, carotid atherosclerosis. J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 7, 1228–1231. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2013/5087.3042.

- Ranjitkar, S., Taylor, J.A., Townsend, G.C., 2002. A radiographic assessment of the prevalence of pulp stones in Australians. Aust. Dent. J. 47, 36–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1834-7819.2002. tb00301.x.
- Rodrigues, V., Scamardi, I., Schacht Junior, C., Bortolotto, M., Manhães Junior, L., Tomazinho, L.F., Boschini, S., 2014. Prevalence of pulp stones in cone beam computed tomography. Dent. Press Endod. 4, 57–62. https://doi.org/10.14436/2178-3713.4.1.057-062.oar.
- Sadoon, A., Alotaibi, T., Mian, R.I., Alnufaie, N., 2019. Prevalence of pulpal stones in a Saudi subpopulation. Int. J. Med. Res. Heath Sci. 8, 38–47.
- Satheeshkumar, P.S., Mohan, M.P., Saji, S., Sadanandan, S., George, G., 2013. Idiopathic dental pulp calcifications in a tertiary care setting in South India. J. Conserv. Dent. 16, 50–55. https://doi.org/ 10.4103/0972-0707.105299.
- Sayegh, F.S., Reed, A.J., 1968. Calcification in the dental pulp. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. 25, 873–882. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0030-4220(68)90165-5.
- Sener, S., Cobankara, F.K., Akgünlü, F., 2009. Calcifications of the pulp chamber: prevalence and implicated factors. Clin. Oral Investig. 13, 209–215. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-008-0212-x.
- Seracchiani, M., Miccoli, G., Di Nardo, D., Zanza, A., Cantore, M., Gambarini, G., Testarelli, L., 2021. Effect of flexural stress on torsional resistance of NiTi instruments. J. Endod. 47, 472–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joen.2020.10.011.
- Sisman, Y., Aktan, A.-M., Tarim-Ertas, E., Ciftçi, M.-E., Sekerci, A.-E., 2012. The prevalence of pulp stones in a Turkish population. A radiographic survey. Med. Oral Patol. Oral Cir. Bucal 17, e212– e217. https://doi.org/10.4317/medoral.17400.
- Srivastava, K.C., Shrivastava, D., Nagarajappa, A.K., Khan, Z.A., Alzoubi, I.A., Mousa, M.A., Hamza, M., David, A.P., Al-Johani, K., Sghaireen, M.G., Alam, M.K., 2020. Assessing the prevalence and association of pulp stones with cardiovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus in the Saudi Arabian population—A CBCT based study. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 17, 9293. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijerph17249293.
- Sundell, J.R., Stanley, H.R., White, C.L., 1968. The relationship of coronal pulp stone formation to experimental operative procedures. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. 25, 579–589. https://doi. org/10.1016/0030-4220(68)90303-4.
- Tamse, A., Kaffe, I., Littner, M.M., Shani, R., 1982. Statistical evaluation of radiologic survey of pulp stones. J. Endod. 8, 455– 458. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0099-2399(82)80150-7.
- Turkal, M., Tan, E., Uzgur, R., Hamidi, M., Colak, H., Uzgur, Z., 2013. Incidence and distribution of pulp stones found in radiographic dental examination of adult Turkish dental patients. Ann. Med. Health Sci. Res. 3, 572–576. https://doi.org/10.4103/2141-9248.122115.
- Zeng, J., Yang, F., Zhang, W., Gong, Q., Du, Y., Ling, J., 2011. Association between dental pulp stones and calcifying nanoparticles. Int. J. Nanomed. 6, 109–118. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN. S13267.